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1. Name of Property ~~~~~"

historic name Gilkerson, William and Agnes, Farm

other names/site number Kitchel. Douglas and Sybil, Farm

2. Location

street & number Town Highway 3 (Summer Road)

city or town _____ 

state Vermont

Barnet

not for publication 

'0 vicinity

code VT county Caledonia code QQ5 zip code °5861

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this 3 nomination 
D request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of 
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property 
Q meets D does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant 
EH naUonallyjG; stdpewide EH locally, (d See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature" of certifying offic'ial/Tifle y 
Vermont State Historic Preservation

Date 
Office

State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property EH meets EH does not meet the 
comments.)

Signature of certifying official/Title

National Register criteria. (D See continuation sheet for additional

Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification An+.or&d 111 wS&
I hereby^eertify that the property is:

*Q entered in the National Register. 
D See continuation sheet. 

D determined eligible for the 
National Register 

LH See continuation sheet.

D determined not eligible for the 
National Register.

EH removed from the National 
Register.

D other, (explain:) _________

Signature of the Keeper
.•••7

Date of Action
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Name of Property

Caledonia County, Vermont 
County and State

5. Classification
Ownership of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply)

E private 
D public-local 
D public-State 
D public-Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box)

D building(s) 
E district 
D site 
D structure 
D object

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing 

3

2

Noncontributing 

1 buildings

sites

structures

5 1

objects

Total

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.) 

Agricultural Resources of Vermont

Number of contributing resources previously listed 
in the National Register

0

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOME STIC /single dwelling

AGRICULTURE /animal facility

AGRICULTURE /agricultural fields

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC /single dwelling

AGRICULTURE /animal facility

AGRICULTURE /agricultural fields

7. Description
Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

Other: Cape Cod

No Style

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation stone

walls stone

weatherboard

roof metal

other wood

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Caledonia County, Vermont
County and State

8. Statement of Significance
Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 
for National Register listing.)

E A Property is associated with events that have made 
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of 
our history.

D B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past.

E C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses 
high artistic values, or represents a significant and 
distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.

D D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in ail the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

CD A owned by a religious institution or used for 
religious purposes.

D B removed from its original location.

D C a birthplace or grave.

D D a cemetery.

D E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

D F a commemorative property.

D G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance 
within the past 50 years.

'Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Agriculture

Architecture

Ethnic Heritage/European

Period of Significance

c.1799

1938 - 1941

Significant Dates

c.1799

1939

1941

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above) 

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

Scottish-American

Architect/Builder

Unknown

Narrative Statement of Significance
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References
Bibliography
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):
D preliminary determination of individual listing (36

CFR 67) has been requested 
D previously listed in the National Register 
D previously determined eligible by the National

Register
D designated a National Historic Landmark 
D recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

# ______________ 
D recorded by Historic American Engineering

Record # ____________

Primary location of additional data:
S State Historic Preservation Office 
D Other State agency 
D Federal agency 
D Local government 
D University 
D Other 

Name of repository:



Gilkerson, William and Agnes, Farm 
Name of Property

Caledonia County, Vermont 
County and State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property + 60 acres

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.) 

1 LlSj \7 l3 i4 lo i9 i5 k i9 1 16 1 iQ iQ
Zone Easting 

2 LjJ \1 13 i4 1 i7 iQ

Northing

k i9 1 i5 9i6iO

3 LLilJ 7 3|4 3|5|Q 4,9 1,6 0|2|0| 
Zone Easting Northing

4 IliSl I7I3J4 3|2|0 4,9 I t 6 2 t 0, 0
rvi1*1 See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

name/title William Bentley / revised.Vt. Division for Historic Preservation

organization Historic Preservation Program__________ date June 1992 'I September 1992
;-!..'>;•, . I . U i ' ^ I •: ',...;-_'

street & number Wheeler House, University of Vermont telephone (802) 656-3180_______

city or town Burlington____________________ state Vermont zip code Q5405______

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets 

Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. 

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property. 

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner_____________________________________________________
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name _______Douglas and Sybil Kitchel___________________________________________

street & number Box 117 

city or town Passumpsic

__ telephone (802) 748-2267 

state Vermont zip code °5861

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain 
a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing 
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect 
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of 
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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DESCRIPTION:

The QHkerson Farmstead now covers about 60 acres of hilly, open and forested land In 

the town of Barnet Vermont. Originally settled by Scottish Immigrants In the 18th 

century, this farmstead lies between the Water Andrlck and Joe's Brook, near the 

Passumpslc River, about five miles northeast of the Connecticut River. From this 

elevated location, the farm enjoys an expansive view over the Connecticut River 

valley and the foothills of the White Mountains. Of the original 125 acre plot, roughly 

60 acres remains associated with the 1799-1802 Cape Cod, rubble stone house and Its 

current owners, the Kltchels. Some of the 6O acres Is devoted to hay and corn and Is 

farmed by neighbors, the remainder consists of forest In the hllllest sections, the 

Immediate area surrounding the stone house and some small gardens. The stone house, 

the farm structures and the small gardens are the focal point of the farmstead. The 

farmstead consists of five smaller sites: 1) The 1799-1802 stone house, c. 1805, 1938, 

1943 woodshed/carriage barn and 1943 garage/apartment, 2) the c. 1950 sugar house, 

attendant wood sheds and farm Implement/tool shed, 3) the 1941 upper ground level 

stable barn with Its mllkhouse, silage, hay and manure storage, 4) the 1939 lower 

ground level stable bam and 1948 chicken house (now a studio) and 5) the c. 1875 stone 

bam foundation along with the small gardens and small animal enclosures.

Although the farm buildings are no longer used to full capacity and the older 

nineteenth centry bam Is now only a foundation, the structures remain Intact In form 

(except the ruined barn), have some of their agricultural equipment and still convey 

the sense and feel of the historic farmstead. The continuing use of many of the fields 

by other farmers, the dedication of the owners to protect this farmstead and the good 

condition of the farm structures all combine to retain the farmstead's Integrity of 

location, design, setting, workmanship, materials, association and feeling.
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la Stone House, c. 1799-1802/1938/1945/1950. 

Exterior:

The stone house Is a one and one-half story, rubble stone Cape Cod form with a metal 

standing seam roof, stone foundation and flush, end wall, composite masonry chimneys 

characterized by stone below the roof line and by brick above the roof line, which are 

surmounted by metal, arched flue hoods. Commanding a southeasterly view over the 

surrounding fields and the Connecticut River Valley, this symmetrical 

Georgian/Federal style Cape Cod type sits atop a flat part of a Knoll above Summer 

Road; behind the house, the hill continues rising upward.

William Qllkerson built the Cape Cod for his new Scottish bride and the house reflects 

their native heritage with Its use of stone rather than the plentiful and more easily 

worked wood. This stone was locally quarried, but the lime used In the mortar was 

transported from Burlington by sledge. The largest of the stones occupy the corners 

and lintels, and smaller stones fill In the rest of the walls. The first floor has 6/6 

double hung sash windows with solid two panel shutters. The original nine panel door 

on the south, main facade has a metal latch, an aluminum storm door and a transom 

above with four lights. Outside and above the entry way Is a projecting wooden hood 

on brackets, added In 1938 when a crude seven bay porch of unknown age was 

removed. The top of this entrance door hood Is triangularly pedlmented, and the 

bottom Is a seml-elllpttcal arch. The simple cornice line also forms gable returns Inset 

Into the stone work and the main (south) eave side has 10 modllllon-llke projections.
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The roof Is pierced by five triangularly pedlmentfed dormer windows on the south 

facade and by a 3/5 length shed dormer centered^ In the north elevation; these date 

from 1950 and 1945 respectively, when the Kltchels retained an architect to remodel 

the upstairs to Include more living space with mor^ ample light than that provided by 

the gable wall windows.

The side, gable elevations have Inset gable return^. They have two 9/6 double hung 

sash windows In the half story and above these are two square, four light fixed pane 

windows. These windows are placed near the outside edges of the walls since the 

double fireplaces and the single chimney form a corbelled wishbone structure which 

requires most of the central portion of the gable walls. The west elevation has 

louvered square windows at the top-most level. The remainder of this elevation Is 

Identical to the east elevation except as noted. The north(rear) elevation has an added 

kitchen chimney which Is braced above the first story wall with connecting ties to the 

shed dormer. This elevation has 6/6 windows on the first story and has three groups of 

doubled six pane casement windows In the 3/5 shed dormer.

Interior:

The first floor plan of the stone house has two rooms on either side of an entrance 

stair hall. The east parlor extends the full width of the house and is divided by a 

central girt, which marks the original dividing wall before this space was unified in 

1938. The west hall is the original kitchen and working space. North of this there is 

a small room, which is now a study. The central entrance hall accesses the kitchen, 

which is located in the middle of the back half of the house. The upstairs plan 

mirrors that of the first story with three bedrooms over the three aforementioned 

downstairs rooms and a bath over the kitchen. While the largest bedroom (over the east 

parlor), the
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bathroom and the new kitchen, at the end of the entrance hall, were converted from 

storage space by the Kltchels, the majority of the house consists of original fabric.

The central stair hall has shoulder height wainscoting of hand-planed, two to three feet 

wide pine boards and plastered walls. The stair has a Federal style rail and balusters 

with an elegant newel which Is square at the base, octagonal above and becomes 

round at the top; the other balusters are set forty-five degrees to square. The backside 

of the nine panel front door consists of two very wide vertical boards. All other doors 

(except those to the east parlor) have two or three hand planed vertical boards on one 

side held together by nails through smaller, horizontal, bevelled boards on the other 

side.

The hall (original kitchen and work-space) contains on the west wall an 

Immense fireplace, Dutch oven and an overmantle with two horizontal, bevelled 

boards. This entire wall Is panelled and was revealed by the removal of a furred out 

and plastered wall In 1938; the remainder of the chamber has dado height wainscoting, 

plastered walls, hand worked Joists across the celling and deep window reveals 

necessitated by the thick stone walls. These window reveals are also splayed In three 

directions; this combined with the ,tall ceilings, the elegant stair rail and the fine 

fireplace mantles testify to the excellent workmanship and design of the builder.

The parlor extends the width of the house since it was opened up in 1938 by 

the Kltchels and the dividing girt Is concealed behind painted panelling. This 

parlor has two fireplaces, the south more elegant than the north fireplace as Its 

architrave and cornice moulding profiles are more detailed and Its frieze has a stylized, 

Incised tri- and hexaglyph motif. Both of these Federal mantleplces were Intended for
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show as opposed to the more utilitarian fireplace in the hall. This parlor also 

has two six panel Federal doors with metal latches, cornice and baseboard moldings, 

architrave trim molding around all doors and windows and chair rails at window sill 

height although the dado Is not wainscoted, but plastered and painted Instead. The 

parlor also has two built In cabinets with three panelled doors straddling the panelled 

post which separates the two sections of the room.

Ib Wood shed/Carriage House/Oarage/Apartment, c. 1805- 1820/1938-43 

The carriage house Is a single story timber framed structure with unpalnted vertical 

board siding although It had unpalnted clapboards at least until 1938; the carriage 

house Is an ell extending south and connecting to the southern third of the west gable 

end of the stone house. It has a gabled standing seam metal roof with simple cornice 

returns, a small Interior stove chimney on slope and near the ridge board on the 

northern half of the structure with a corbelled brick flue hood.The re Is an exterior 

brick chimney on the west eave wall with pent buttresses and an arched metal flue 

hood on the southern half of the structure. On the north gable end there Is a entrance 

door with a storm door and west of this Is a modem doubled, single pane casement 

window. The east eave end has one 12/12 double hung sash window on the northern 

half and the southern half has two Federal style arched openings which once admitted 

the carriages and later automobiles. These openings were Infilled with 12 paned doors 

with two flanking 12 paned sidelights; the glass panes start at the same level and the 

sidelights are not as tall as the door thus retaining a Federal motif In the original 

openings. The Federal style elliptical arches and the resemblance to a Palladlan 

window In these Infilled bays date from the 1943, architect designed conversion of 

this utilitarian space to an apartment for a field hand. On the south gable end a 

dropped shed roof projects about two feet. In this small addition Is a very large
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98(14x7) paned window; on the side walls of this addition are 14 paned(2x7) 

sidelights. These lights and those Inside the arched openings on the east eave side 

provide the lighting for a living room centered around the fireplace with the exterior, 

buttressed chimney. On the west eave side, there are two small 6(3x2) paned windows 

high on the wall flanking the chimney pile on the southern half of the structure. On 

the northern half of the west eave wall are two 4/4 double hung sash separated by a 

mulllon and In one frame.

Although It has served many functions. Including perhaps the original and necessarily 

crude living quarters. It still retains Its basic form. The building has always been 

divided Into two functions; Its southern half has been a wood shed, a carriage house, a 

garage and now a living room, and Its northern half has been a wood shed, a garage and 

a bedroom. The northern-most section of the structure serves as a 'mud room1 or 

Informal entrance hall and provides a connection to the stone house, the carriage 

house and the newer apartment house.

Ic Apartment/Quest House/Garage, 1943-46

This large, two story, three bay structure with poured concrete foundation has an 

asphalt shingle roof, vinyl siding, small triangular attic vents Just below the gable 

peak, an asymmetrical roof and a variety of window types. The roof slope Is angled 

such that the south elevation Is two stories and the north elevation Is one and one-half 

stories; the eaves have gutters and very little overhang and there Is no cornice 

detailing evident. There Is one small chimney with flue extending above on the south 

slope near the ridge board on the western half of the structure. All windows have 

shutters, and on the south eave wall In the central bay and In the second story western 

bay are double 1/1 sliding sash windows separated by a mulllon. All other windows
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are single 1/1 double hung sash of different sizes. The only exception Is a door sized 

window on the eastern end of the first story of the south eave wall; this large window 

provides light for the storage room which Is now used as a small greenhouse.

The entire second story has apartment quarters and the first story Is dominated by the 

garage space on the north and west sides. The remaining first story space has two 

rooms, one for storage and one devoted to living space. On the west gable end there Is 

an elevated porch with stairs leading to It. This porch Is half the length of the gable 

width and Is further accessible by a door at second story level on the southern half of 

this western gable end. Also on the second story Is a single 1/1 double hung window. 

The north eave wall Is dominated by a gabled wall dormer delineating the 2/3 portion 

of this elevation which the two bay garage occupies. Centered In this dormer above 

the garage Is a doubled 1/1 sash with shutters. On the first story level east of the 

garage bays Is a single 1/1 sash with shutters. Connecting the apartment house and the
carriage house are two wings. The first has a door with a single pane of glass in its south 
eave wall. Also facing south is a single roof skylight, lighting the upper half story. North of 
this is another small wing with a single, horizontally oriented, rectangular, single pane, 
awning window opening inward on the south eave wall.

2a, b, c. Sugar House, Wood Sheds, and Equipment Shed, c.1950

These buildings are all connected, and are non-contributing due to their age. The sugar house 
is a balloon-framed, 4 x 3 bay structure with a raised concrete block foundation, vertical 
board sheathing and a corrugated metal roof. The raised
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foundation Is punctuated only by the two doors, one on the fourth(eastem) bay of the 

south eave side and the other In the middle bay of the east gable end. On the main 

southern eave facade there are also three windows. These are 6 paned(3x2) hopper 

windows, which open Inward on a hinged bottom stile; all other windows follow this 

type. The west and east gable ends have one window on each outer bay, and (n the 

central bay, below the apex of the roof, there Is a third window. 

In the central bay and dropping below the top of the foundation Is a horizontal door, 

which accesses the bottom of the evaporator pans for cleaning purposes. On the east 

gable end there Is an entrance door between the windows. The north eave side has no 

windows or doors. Surmounting the main rectangular frame, a 3/5 length ventilator 

with vertical board sheathing and a corrugated metal roof straddles the ridge board. 

This ventilator lies slightly west of the center point of the gable roof. The north and 

south eave ends of this ventilator consist of seven hinged doors which open outward 

and are controlled by ropes and pulleys Inside the sugar house. The sugar house and 

Its attached wood and equipment sheds are painted red and the trim and foundation of 

the sugar house are painted white. The sugar house Is now used for storage and the 

evaporator and related sugaring equipment have been sold.

The wood shed and the equipment shed are all similarly constructed of balloon framing 

with vertical board sheathing and corrugated metal roofs. The wood shed runs In a line 

from west south-west to east north-east directly behlnd(north) the sugar house. This 

structure has five bays and a shed roof. The bay openings are characterized by the 

sheathing of the diagonal space between the post, the plate and the corner brace. 

Starting from the west, the third and fourth bays are connected to the sugar house by a 

shed roof spanning a wider, one bay space but otherwise Identical to the first five 

bays. This span can be driven under or used to shelter the horse drawn drays or tractor.
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which supplied the sugar house with wood and raw sap. This road Is now an Internal 

farm road, but It was once a secondary county road. Connected to the east gable end of 

the sugar house lies an equipment/wood shed. This structure Is also Identical to the 

five bay wood sheds except that It has an asymmetrical gable roof,which extends much 

farther to the north than the south. The ridge board of this structure Joins the sugar 

house Just below the center of the upper window on the east gable end.

3a. Milk House, 1941
3b. Upper Barn, 1941/1948-49/1955
3c. Silo, 1941
3d. Hay Barn, 1941
3e. Manure Tank, c.1941

Located on the eastern part of the farmstead, this Immense Interconnected series of 

buildings defines the entire farmstead, functionally and visually. The size, the 

Irregular massing and the multiplicity of gambrel, shed, gable, domical and conical 

roof shapes make this group of buildings the most striking on the farmstead. Holding 

up to 53 head of cattle and the means to bed, feed and milk them, this was the heart of 

the farm's operation. Expanding the farm's production In 1941, these structures were 

built to move the small farm operation from the lower barn to this site Just up the hill, 

known as the upper barn. The entire complex contributes to the significance of the 

farm.

On the west end of this group and closest to the road Is the mllkhouse. Built In 1941, 

the mllkhouse Is a single story, framed and triple pitched, gambrel roofed structure 

with asbestos shingles, vertical board sheathing and a poured concrete foundation. 

The west cave abuts two 6/6 double hung sash windows. The north gambrel end also 

has one of these windows centered In the wall. The south gambrel end has a 4 paned, 3 

horizontal panel door on center with a square louvered vent above the eave line. 

Connecting the mllkhouse to the main barn Is a shed roofed structure, which extends
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one bay further south than does the mllkhouse. It Is also sheathed In vertical boards 
but has a corrugated metal roof, which slopes south. The only opening Is a door 
centered In the west wall and Identical to that of the mllkhouse. Both these structures 
are painted red with white trim. The doors are painted white on the surrounds, panels 
and muntlns with the remaining stiles and rails painted red.

The single story ground level stable barn(upper barn) has a poured concrete slab 
foundation, balloon framing with enclosed roof trusses, corrugated asbestos wall 
sheathing, an asbestos shingle gable roof, two metal ventilators on the ridge pole and 
many windows of several types. The first section of this barn from 1941 extended east 
as far as the concrete silo and Included a bull pen and a calving pen on the south wall

and 31 stanchions separated by manure troughs on either side of a central walkway. The roof 
trusses over this area are enclosed by a hung ceiling of asbestos sheets between wooden bat­ 
tens. The extension in 1948-49 of the barn to the east maintained the same form, but it had a 
metal roof with its trusses enclosed above a beaded tongue and groove ceiling. The addition 
included 22 new stanchions arranged identically to the original 31, and intersected the round 
hay barn, necessitating some minor alterations where the two joined.

The north eave elevation has a line of ten regularly spaced 6 paned(3x2) hopper 
windows. There Is a small shed connecting the concrete silo, the hay barn and the 
stable barn, which provides shelter to the access areas of the silo and hay barn. 
Further east the round hay bam Intersects the stable bam addition. The east gable end 
elevatlon(part of the '48-'49 addition) has one door at the northern corner, adjacent to 
the Intersection of the hay barn. Four regularly spaced 1/1 windows punctuate the 
corrugated asbestos siding, although these are all now broken and covered with
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plastic. Below the gable peak Is a square louvered vent. The south eave elevation has 
six more of these 1/1 wlndows(unbroken) which mark the addition. The original 
section has, from east to west two wall mounted ventilating fans, a door, three 6 
paned(3x2) hopper windows, a corrugated asbestos siding, track mounted, garage door 
used for livestock entrance and exit, one more hopper window and finally the 1955 
walk through milking parlor.

The walk through milking parlor, built c. 1955, also has a poured concrete foundation 
and a metal gable roof. The walls are sheathed In vertical boards and the east slope of 
the roof has a second shed pitch. The south gable end has one, centered and square 
single pane window; to the west Is a door. On the west eave elevation there are two 
Intersecting, large, single paned windows which occupy the entire width of the parlor. 
The milking parlor Is painted white with red trim; the door has a red surround and 
panels, the stiles and rails are white.

Behind the stable barn on the north side is a concrete, trapezoidal "shingle" silo, 
bound in compression by metal tensioning rings. This corn silage tower is capped by 
a domical metal roof. Along the southeastern arc of the silo is a smaller, integrated
cylindrical tower with a metal conical roof. Directly east of the silo Is the round hay 
barn, the southern quarter of which Intersects the stable barn. The hay barn Is a three 
story, balloon framed structure sheathed In corrugated metal and roofed conlcally with 
a central metal ventilator. The center core of the barn had a round ventilation stack 
which has since been removed; there Is also a square vent stack of similar 
construction on the west arc. The top story(upper half) of the bam Is used for hay 
storage. The floor below Is used for sawdust bedding storage. Below this a poured 
concrete foundation Is now empty. A door In the floor of the southwestern quadrant of
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the upper story leads to a chute, which empties Into the stable barn. Directly opposite 
this, on the north eastern quadrant and high on the wall, there Is an opening through 
which the hay elevator loaded the barn. Centered In the northwest quadrant, Is a high 
drive access door. The floor of the top story lies several feet above the high drive and 
either the hay mow or the sawdust bedding storage area below may be accessed from 
this high drive.

Adjacent to the east gable end of the stable barn at the southern corner, there Is a 
concrete lined manure storage tank which holds a mixture of manure and water. Atop 
the slab roof of this slurry pit Is a motor driven stirring turbine and a pump powered 
access pipe with a curved top with which to fill a manure spreader. The tank Is filled
automatically by a manure trough cleaner, which removed the manure through "the 
floor on the east end of the stable barn.

4a., 4b. Lower Barn, Chicken House/Work Space, 1938/1948/c. 1987

Dairy operations began with the construction of this bam In 1938. Originally housing 
several dairy cattle and draft horses, this bam then housed poultry starting In 1945-46. 
Poultry raising was expanded In 1948 with the construction of the larger chicken 
house at the southeast corner. Around 1987, the barn was used for a small scale 
summertime sheep operation, and the chicken house was converted to a wood working
studio. The lower barn represents the beginning of the Kitchel farm operations. It is 
a contributing element, even though the chicken house/work space is not yet fifty 
years old
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The lower barn Is a one and one-half story, balloon framed structure on a poured 
concrete foundation with an asbestos shingled, flared eave gambrel roof, a metal 
ventilator centered along the ridge pole and vertical board sheathing. The first story 
of the west gambrel end has a four panel, single pane door set off center and a sheathed 
over 6 pane(3x2) hopper window south of the door. On the half story, there Is a 
centered outward opening door; the door has a 6 paned(2x3) section above three 
vertical panels. Planking either side of the door are 6 paned(3x2) hopper windows. 
Along the northern eave elevation, four of the five bays have doubled, 6 paned(3x2) 
hopper windows; the second bay from the east Is blank. The east gambrel end has a 
single door against the northern comer. The south eave elevation has three bays of 
doubled windows In the same arrangement as those on the north elevation. The lower 
barn Is also painted red with contrasting white trim.

The chicken house has a concrete block foundation, balloon framing, corrugated metal 
sheathing and a metal gable roof with a metal ventilator. The ridge board of the roof 
runs southwest/northeast Because of this skewed orientation, the roof ridge abuts the 
eave of the gambrel roofed lower barn. Easterly of this Intersection, a triangularly 
shaped space Is created between the two structures; Its roof and sheathing are 
Identical to that of the chicken house. The northwest and southeast eave elevations 
are likewise Identical having five regularly spaced, doubled, 6 paned(3x2) hopper 
windows. The east elevation of the triangular connector has one of these doubled 
hopper windows. The skewed north gable wall has a single aluminum storm door with a 
glass light. The south gable, entrance end has a centered set of French doors flanked 
by a set of the doubled hopper windows.
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5. Barn Foundation, c.1875

This foundation Is all that remains of the older barn. When the Kltchels bought the 
farm In 1938, It had not been active for many years. This bam was In very poor shape 
according to the Kltchels, and therefore It was torn down. The remaining foundation 
forms a "U" which opens southward. At either end of this "U", the foundation turned at 
right angles outward. The site slopes first gradually and then sharply to the south. 
Therefore, the gable end with high drive faced north, and the south end would have had 
at least three stories compared to the two stories of the north end. Furthermore, the 
right angled walls were retaining walls for the north side of a drive which went 
through the manure basement of this bank barn. Adjacent to the northern side of the 
east eave wall Is an "L" shaped foundation about four feet from the "U". This shape 
opens to the northeast and would have been a much smaller barn. This foundation can 
still yield Information Its orientation and general layout, and thus It Is a contributing 
structure.
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The Gilkerson Farmstead in Barnet, which includes a c.1799 
stone Cape Cod house and farm buildings from the late 1930s 
and early 1940s,is significant for both historic and 
architectural merit. The house was built by Scottish 
immigrants William and Agnes Gilkerson, and reflects the 
Scottish settlement of this part of Caledonia County as well 
as Scottish stone building practices. The farmstead is also 
significant as one of the abandoned hill farms of Vermont 
that was revitalized in the 1930s. It was bought by Douglas 
and Sybil Kitchel, who made use of the most recent scientific 
farming techniques to develop a modern dairy operation. The 
farm buildings stand today as an excellent example of a model 
farm of the middle twentieth century. The farmstead is being 
nominated under the Multiple Property submission, 
"Agricultural Resources of Vermont," and meets the 
registration requirements for the farmstead property type.

The town of Barnet, along with several others in Caledonia 
County, were settled by a number of immigrants from Scotland. 
The county is noteworthy for having such a large number of 
early settlers who were Scottish immigrants, since much of 
the rest of Vermont was settled by natives of Massachusetts, 
New Hampshire, New York, and Connecticut. Several companies 
were organized in Scotland to scout America for suitable farm 
land. The Scotch-American Company, organized by 137 people 
on February 5, 1773, at Inchinnan, Renfrewshire, Scotland, 
sent James Whitelaw as its agent to look for land in America. 
Whitelaw eventually bought property for the company in 
Ryegate, the town just to the south of Barnet.

A group of mostly farmers in the village of Arnpyre, parish 
of Kippen and neighborhood in Stirlingshire, Scotland, joined 
together to form the Arnpyrick Society for Emigrants. Their 
first known public notice was printed in Scots Magazine in 
April of 1774. They appointed as their agent, Alexander 
Harvey (born 1747), a farmer of Stirlingshire. In 1774 he 
traveled throughout northeastern America, meeting with 
Whitelaw in Ryegate. On August 27 he arrived in Barnet and 
looked at land with Mr. Stevens, a land surveyor and brother 
of Samuel Stevens (both proprietors of the Town of Barnet). 
The next day they reviewed 7,000 acres on the west end of 
Barnet. Harvey noted in his journal that the "soile appears 
to be fertile and good." On August 29 he inquired about the 
terms of sale, "and as this Land is the Best we had yet seen 
we were willing to treate with him tho not to make a positive
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Bargan." The Stevens brothers and Harvey eventually agreed on 
a price of 14d sterling per acre, for a total of just over 
400 pounds.

The intended settlement on these 7,000 acres in Barnet was 
interrupted by the Revolutionary War, but commenced again 
with peacetime. Bernard Bailyn found that of 105 
householders known to have lived in Barnet between 1775-1798, 
at least ten can be traced back to villages in Stirlingshire, 
Scotland, and vicinity (Voyagers to the West, N.Y.: Alfred 
Knopf, 1986, p.636). Among them were John Gilkerson, his 
wife, and four sons, who were from Kilwinan, Scotland. They 
arrived in Newburyport, Massachusetts, on July 22, 1784, and 
moved to Barnet the next year. They occupied the land of 
John Galbraith, who settled in Barnet in 1774. Their son, 
William (born July 22, 1774), worked in Boscawen, New 
Hampshire for two and a half years, before joining his family 
in Barnet.

Local tradition states that William Gilkerson built his stone 
house to have a suitable Scottish dwelling for his new bride, 
Agnes Somers. Agnes and her parents, Mr. and Mrs, Robert 
Somers, came to Barnet from Cambuslang, Scotland. William 
and Agnes were married on January 28, 1802. Because the 
house must have taken a long time to complete, it is thought 
that it was built between 1799 and 1802. The house is built 
of rubble stone, which requires a great deal of mortar to 
hold it together. The Barnet town history, published in 
1923, records that William Gilkerson brought sixty-one 
barrels of lime from Burlington, Vermont, by ox team, to use 
for the mortar.

This stone house is one of four remaining in this part of 
Vermont that are built during this time period of rubble 
stone construction. All of them were built by Scottish 
settlers. The Whitehill House in Ryegate, built in 1808, was 
listed on the National Register of Historic Places on May 30, 
1975. Two others, the John Orr House in West Ryegate (built 
1798) and the Taisey House in Groton (built c.1810), are 
listed on the State Register of Historic Places. There are 
ruins of another stone house, the Abraham Whitehill House 
(built in 1812), in North Ryegate. Of these four standing 
houses, the Gilkerson House is the largest and the best 
preserved. All four are stone Cape Cod type houses with 
chimneys built into the end walls. The Gilkerson House is 
deeper and taller, with-a high ceiling on the first floor and 
more room upstairs under the sweeping roof.
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The Gilkerson House is noteworthy for a number of reasons. 
The first floor plan illustrates a vernacular transition from 
the Georgian to the Federal period. The central hallway 
extends two-thirds the depth of the house, a transitional 
space that is longer than the typical Georgian entry, which 
usually contained the stairway and little else. The hallway 
does not extend through the house, as is more common in 
Federal period plan houses. The house does have a Cape Cod 
form, but is unlike the more common Vermont Cape Cods, which 
have a massive central chimney or less commonly two interior 
chimneys. The Gilkerson House has chimney stacks built into 
the end walls. This variation follows naturally from the use 
of stone, as stone is more time-consuming to use in 
construction than timber framing, and thus the chimneys would 
be incorporated into the massive walls rather than building 
separate chimney stacks internally.

The interior space most strongly representing the Georgian 
influence is the hall (original kitchen, now dining room). 
The entire fireplace (end) wall is panelled and the rest of 
the room, as well as the entry hallway, is wainscoted with 
pine boards. The end wall has an immense fireplace and 
baking oven built into the three foot thick stone walls. 
This room is a strong contrast to the parlors (originally two 
rooms, now one) on the other side of the entry hallway and a 
small room in back of the hall that is now the study. The 
parlors have ornate fireplaces with Federal period mantels, 
plastered and painted walls, and chair rails. All downstairs 
rooms are noteworthy for their window and exterior door 
openings, which have splayed reveals on the sides and tops to 
let in more light and provide a feeling of airiness to the 
thick stone walls.

Agnes Gilkerson died on February 27, 1847, but her husband 
William lived to be almost 90 years old, dying on March 24, 
1864. They had ten children. William held many town offices 
and served in the Vermont House of Representatives for 
several terms. His son, Robert, inherited the farm. Robert, 
his wife Mary, and family sold the farm in 1866 to Claudius 
B. Somers (from another Scottish family), and moved to 
Marshalltown, Iowa, to farm there. Somers was deacon of the 
Passumpsic Baptist Church in Barnet from the 1880s until his 
death in 1898.

Agricultural Census records show the time period of 1850 to 
1880 to be one of solid growth for this and other farms of
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the region. Improved acreage of trie old GiiKerson rarm 
increased from 75 to 95 acres, with the total acreage 
remaining stable at 125 acres. The total value of livestock 
increased from $262 to $800. Some of the statistics from 
1880, such as the numbers of sheep and pounds of maple sugar, 
decreased slightly from the 2870 census as the Somer farm 
concentrated on dairy operations. Total number of cattle 
increased from eight to twenty-two, with a resulting rise in 
butter and cheese output. It is very likely that the near 
trebling of the cattle herd from 1870 to 1880 resulted in the 
need for a larger barn. It is therefore likely that the 
stone foundation (#5) on the property is the foundation of a 
bank barn built during this time period.

Fred Landry bought the farm from Claudius Somers. The farm 
stood idle for a number of years, until Douglas and Sybil 
Kitchel bought the foreclosed property from the bank in 1938. 
The Kitchel 's tenure of the farm begins the second phase of 
its significance and a resurrection of the agricultural use 
of this land, and serves as an excellent example of an 
abandoned hill farm that was revitalized. The Kitchels made 
several changes to the house to make the space more livable. 
They restored the west hall chamber to its original 
appearance by removing a wall that had covered the original 
walls. The east parlors were opened up to make one room. 
Upstairs there were originally finished living quarters only 
on the western half of the house. The only windows were in 
the end walls. The Kitchels made living space in the eastern 
half of the upstairs, and hired an architect to design 
dormers for both roof slopes, to allow for better air 
circulation. The dormers are basically unobtrusive in design 
and do not detract from its aesthetics.

The Kitchels began small scale dairy farming with the 
construction in 1938-39 of the lower barn. They received 
advice from neighboring farmers and the University of Vermont 
Agricultural Extension Service. The Extension Service was 
particularly active during the World War II years, as farm 
production was considered essential to the war effort. Also 
helpful in setting up the farm were many of the agricultural 
journals of the day. The farm was revitalized and operated 
according to the most recent scientific agricultural 
principles, as influenced by the Extension Service and 
agricultural magazines.

The completion of the all purpose stable barn in 1939 was 
quickly followed by the building of a much larger Ground
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Level Stable Barn tthe Upper Barn ) in 1941 . Tne Darn ana 
attached outbuildings included a milkhouse closest to the 
road, a concrete silo, a round hay barn with special drying 
features, and a concrete-lined manure tank. The barn is 
characteristic of its type, with a concrete slab floor, inset 
feed and manure troughs, an automatic trough cleaner emptying 
into a container tank, and pipe stanchions with individual 
water basins. The barn is also clad all around with asbestos 
siding and insulation, illustrating the widely recommended 
use of this "wonder" material. The hay barn had two screened 
ventilator towers to aid the drying of the hay. The manure 
tank is even today a rare feature, and most certainly was 
very uncommon when built in 1941. The mixture of "dry" 
manure with water in the tank, facilitated by an 
electric-powered mixing turbine, provided a better quality 
fertilizer, which when spread on the fields was quickly 
absorbed. The Kitchels also owned the first tractor in the 
immediate area. Around 1955 they added a walk-through 
milking parlor and removed the pipe stanchions. This system 
did not work well for them, as the new method was grafted 
onto a barn designed for an older method of milking. Kitchel 
soon replaced the stanchions and later used the milking 
parlor for poultry.

The farm prospered through the period from 1938 to the 1960s. 
The dairy and poultry operations both expanded, the 
processing and distribution operations developed, and the 
Kitchels built and then expanded the apartment/garage on the 
side of the house for their farmhands. They also built a 
sugar house in 1950. The complex drainage patterns of the 
hilly terrain made the use of labor-saving tube-connected 
taps and centralized collection infeasible, so sugaring was 
eventually abandoned. The farm grew to become the Kilfasset 
Dairy, which included several nearby fields, a large farm in 
the neighboring town of Ryegate, and a processing, bottling, 
and delivery facility in the nearby village of Passumpsic. 
The Kitchels sold parts of the farm holdings and turned over 
operations to his sons in the latter part of the 1960s so he 
could attend to other business and political responsibili­ 
ties. By the early 1980s the old Gilkerson farm has ceased 
large scale commercial operations.

Although this property is no longer used to its former 
capacity and some of the fields and operations of the 
Kilfasset Dairy have been sold, the farm certainly retains 
its character and significance. All of the farm structures, 
which were built in the late 1930s and very early 1940s,
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remain intact and in good condition,and the surrounding 
tilled and pastured fields retain their appearance. The 
sixty acres inside the property boundary include pasture and 
woodlots, and these still convey the original functions of 
the land. Only the 1948 chicken house has been significantly 
altered, as it is now a woodworking studio.

Altogether the stone house, farm structures, and surrounding 
fields and woodlots retain their historic integrity and 
possess the associative and physical characteristics for 
nomination to the National Register for its historic and 
architectural merit. The house is an excellent and rare 
example of the influence of Scottish architecture, and is 
important for its associations with the Scottish settlement 
in Caledonia County. The farm is an excellent example of a 
model dairy farm from the late 1930s and very early 1940s. 
The importance of the Gilkerson Farm cannot, however, be 
summed up only in terms of integrity and fulfilment of 
required guidelines. This farm also possesses an impressive 
aesthetic quality--framing a section of a large hill with its 
surrounding fields providing a beautiful vista of open space 
up the hill as the farm is approached from the southeast.
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UTM REFERENCES:
5) 18 734110 4916250

6) 18 733870 4916240

7) 18 733910 4916150

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION:
The GUkerson Farmstead Includes the land north and west of Summer Road, Barnet 
Town Highway 3 and bounded by the polygon ABCDEFG. Starting from point A at the 
bend In Summer Road due west of the QUkerson stone house, proceed southeast along 
Summer Road roughly 450' to point B. Then turn 90 degrees to the northeast and head 
about 45O' to the bottom of a steeply banked watershed to point C. Following the 
bottom of the watershed, proceed north approximately 400' to point D. Again turn 90 
degrees and head Just north of due west for roughly 680', from point E proceed due 
west another 700' along the dense thicket of coniferous wood to point F. Then follow 
the stone wall southeast for 250' to Summer Road and point Q, and then proceed along 
the road for 650' to the starting point A.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION:

This boundary Includes all the buildings, structures, garden plots, some of the
pasturage and tilled fields historically associated with the Qllkerson Farmstead.

It is sufficient to convey the historic character and integrity of the 

property^ and is the land currently associated with the property.
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